# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-13-2011

# Fuchs v. Idaho State Police Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38714

# I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Nature of the Case

This is an Appeal from a Decision on Appeal of Petition for Judicial Review of a Final Order by the Director of the Idaho State Police ("ISP"), in which the Director denied Petitioner-Appellant Daniel S. Fuchs' ("Fuchs") motion for attorney fees pursuant to I.C. 12-117. The Director denied Fuchs' fees, though by any reasonable measure, Fuchs prevailed by obtaining a dismissal of the forfeiture and/or revocation proceedings with no sanction. And, Alcohol Beverage Control Bureau of Idaho State Police ("ISP/ABC") must be found to have pursued the action without a reasonable basis in fact or law. The Director erroneously found that Fuchs was not a prevailing party avoiding awarding Fuchs attorney fees.

The District Court affirmed the Director's Final Order on appeal. The District Court held that Fuchs had no substantial right denied and that the Director had not abused his discretion in finding that Fuchs was not the "prevailing party." The District Court did not reach the issue of whether ISP/ABC acted without a reasonable basis in fact or law. The District Court erred as a matter of law.

First, if a prevailing party meets the requirements of I.C 12-117, the award of attorney fees is mandatory and is thus a substantial right. Further, the right to an impartial decision-maker is a fundamental right of due process. The District Court denied this right of due process, when it refused to review the Director's Final Order, holding that Fuchs had no substantial rights denied. Second, as a matter of law, Fuchs was a prevailing party, as he obtained the relief he sought in the administrative proceeding, a dismissal of the action.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF Page 1 of 30

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>ISP/ABC, a bureau within the Department of Idaho State Police, has been delegated by the Director, the "authority for the licensing of establishments which sell alcoholic beverages, as contained in Title 23, Chapters 9, 10, and 13, Idaho Code." IDAPA 11.05.01.011.02. The Director retains "supervisory authority for alcoholic beverage licensing." *Id.* 

Finally, ISP/ABC acted without a reasonable basis in fact or law in pursuing forfeiture and/or revocation. It did so without any clearly articulated standard, based upon unlawful procedure, and in violation of the policies set forth in the Idaho Constitution.

This Court should reverse the District Court's Decision on Appeal, holding that Fuchs was the prevailing party and that ISP/ABC acted without a reasonable basis in fact or law. The case should be remanded for determination of the amount of fees to be awarded to Fuchs.

#### B. Course of Proceedings Below

On October 23, 2008, ABC filed its Complaint for Forfeiture or Revocation of Retail Alcohol Beverage License.<sup>2</sup>

On October 9, 2009, following extensive discovery, the parties filed cross motions for summary judgment.

On December 24, 2009, the Hearing Officer issued his Preliminary Order on Motions for Summary Judgment and Order on Complainant's Renewed Motion for Protective Order. The Hearing Officer granted summary judgment to Fuchs.

The parties moved for reconsideration. On January 28, 2010, the Hearing Officer denied the parties' motions for reconsideration.

On February 2, 2010, ABC timely filed a Petition for Review with the Director, Idaho State Police.

On June 8, 2010, the Director of the Idaho State Police issued the Director's Final Order. The Director dismissed the administrative action, "each side to bear their own attorney fees and costs." (Director's Final Order at 19).

APPELLANT'S BRIEF Page 2 of 30

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Agency Record was filed with the District Court on August 18, 2010. (R. at 2). All references to documents in the Agency Record shall refer to the name of the document and the date filed. As to exhibits attached to affidavits, exhibits identified with an "R" are attached to the affidavit of Brian Donesley in Support of Respondent Daniel S. Fuchs' Motion for Summary Judgment dated October 9, 2009. Exhibits identified as "R-DF" are attached to the Affidavit of Daniel S. Fuchs dated October 9, 2009.

On July 1, 2010, Fuchs timely filed his Notice of Appeal/Petition for Judicial Review in the District Court of the First Judicial District, Kootenai County (R at 6).

On February 10, 2011, the District Court, the Honorable Lansing Haynes presiding, issued its Decision on Appeal, affirming the Director's Final Order. (R. at 119).

On March 11, 2011, Fuchs filed his Notice of Appeal. (R. at 124).

# C. Statement of Facts<sup>3</sup>

## 1. Statutory and Rulemaking Background

In 1980, the Idaho Legislature amended the Idaho Code, requiring new issue liquor licensees to put licensees into "actual use" at issuance and to keep them in "use" for at least six (6) months. I.C. 23-908 (4).

In 1993, ISP/ABC promulgated Rule 10.03, providing how a new issue liquor licensee off the priority lists may satisfy the "actual use" requirements of I.C. 23-908 (4). This rule states in relevant part:

The requirement of Section 23-908(4), Idaho Code, that a new license be placed into actual use by the licensee and remain in use for at least six (6) consecutive months is satisfied if the licensee makes actual sales of liquor by the drink during at least eight (8) hours per day, no fewer than six (6) days per week.

IDAPA 11.05.01.010.03

Prior administrators at Idaho State Police testified by affidavit that no specified number of "actual sales" had ever been required of new licensees. Major Thomas Thompson stated:

During my tenure as major supervising the ISP Division of which the Alcohol Beverage Control Bureau was an administrative sub-entity, including part of the tenure of Lt. Clements as ABC Bureau Chief, the New License Rule was interpreted to require that new licensees secure a qualified premise and that liquor be made available for sale during the first six months after issuance of a priority

APPELLANT'S BRIEF Page 3 of 30

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Statement of Undisputed Facts contained herein is a brief summary. For a complete recitation, Fuchs refers this Court to the Statement of Undisputed Facts set forth in Respondent's Brief on Review by Agency Head, pp. 6-15 filed with the agency on April 16, 2010.

list. There was no requirement that a new licensee make actual sales of alcohol.

(Affidavit of ISP Major Thomas C. Thompson (ret) dated October 9, 2009, hereinafter "Thompson Affidavit")

Captain Edgar Rankin stated:

ISP did not require actual sales of alcohol in order to meet the actual use requirements of I.C. 23-908 (4), because requiring sales as a condition of maintaining a license would violate the policy of the State of Idaho by encouraging and requiring as a condition of licensure, increased consumption of alcohol.

(Affidavit of Captain Edgar Rankin (ret) dated October 9, 2009, hereinafter, "Rankin Affidavit," at ¶ 3).

Prior ABC administrator John Gould testified similarly:

There was no requirement that a new licensee make actual sales during each of the eight (8) hours a day, no fewer than six (6) days a week during the first six (6) months after issuance of a new license. This was because ABC could not require a new licensee to produce customers or to sell liquor to customers who were not there.

(Affidavit of John Gould dated October 9, 2009, hereinafter "Gould Affidavit," at  $\P 4$ )

Relevant to this case is that previously, in 2003, ISP/ABC offered four new licenses off the priority lists to Fuchs in Nampa, Idaho. (Exhibit R-DF-1 to Affidavit of Daniel S. Fuchs dated October 9, 2009, hereinafter "Fuchs Affidavit"). Fuchs was then told by ISP/ABC that he was not required to make actual sales, but that he was required to have liquor available for sale during at least eight (8) hours a day, no fewer than six (6) days a week. (Affidavit of Denise Rogers dated October 9, 2009, hereinafter "Rogers Affidavit" at ¶ 4). Fuchs was issued those four new licenses. (Fuchs Affidavit; Exhibits R-DF-2, 3, 4, 5). Of import is that Fuchs actually made fewer sales at these premises than at his Aubrey's House of Ale business in Coeur d'Alene

APPELLANT'S BRIEF Page 4 of 30

at issue here. ("Aubrey's") (Exhibit R-4 to Affidavit of Brian Donesley dated October 9, 2009, hereinafter "Donesley Affidavit"). Although ISP/ABC investigated how many sales Fuchs made at each of the four licensed premises, ISP/ABC did not issue an administrative notice of violation to Fuchs alleging that he had failed to make "actual sales," or pursue an administrative case pertaining to that issue. (Donesley Affidavit, Exhibit R-4; Fuchs Affidavit, Exhibit R-DF-6).

On May 19, 2008, Fuchs applied for a state liquor license for the City of Coeur d'Alene. (Fuchs Affidavit; **Exhibit R-DF-8**). On June 6, 2008, ISP/ABC issued Fuchs an Idaho Retail Alcohol Beverage License. (Fuchs Affidavit; **Exhibit R-DF-16**).

Fuchs leased space at 2065 West Riverstone Drive, # 207 in Coeur d'Alene and obtained all necessary licenses and permits required by state and local agencies. (Fuchs Affidavit; **Exhibits R-DF-7, 10-12**). Fuchs employed staff, obtained unemployment insurance and workers compensation insurance. (Fuchs Affidavit; **Exhibits R-DF-13, 14, 15**). Aubrey's House of Ale in Coeur d'Alene during all times relevant remained open each Monday through Saturday, from 10:00 am to 6:00 pm. (Fuchs Affidavit at ¶ 13).

On September 16, 2008, Lt. Clements, ISP/ABC Bureau Chief, conducted an unannounced inspection of Aubrey's. Lt. Clements met with Ruth Purvis, Fuchs' employee. He observed no customers. Purvis showed Lt. Clements the supply of liquor and beer available for sale to the public.

Upon request by Lt. Clements, Fuchs produced copies of sales records for Aubrey's for the months June 2008 through September 2008. Aubrey's had generated sales for each month. Fuchs reported sales of \$598.11 to the Idaho Tax Commission for the period from July 1, 2008 to September 30, 2008. Fuchs Affidavit; **Exhibits R-DF-17-18**).

On October 14, 2008, ISP/ABC issued an administrative notice of violation, alleging the

APPELLANT'S BRIEF Page 5 of 30

license was not properly being used. (Complaint for Forfeiture or Revocation of Retail Alcohol Beverage License dated October 23, 2008).

## 2. Agency Proceedings

# a. Proceedings before the Hearing Officer.

On October 23, 2008, ABC filed its Complaint for Forfeiture or Revocation of Retail Alcohol Beverage License. On October 9, 2009, following extensive discovery, the parties filed cross motions for summary judgment. On December 24, 2009 after oral argument, the Hearing Officer issued his Preliminary Order granting summary judgment to Fuchs.

The Hearing Officer ruled that IDAPA 11.05.01.010.03 unambiguously required a new licensee to make actual sales of liquor by the drink "sometime" while in operation for eight (8) hours a day/no fewer than six (6) days a week:

The rule promulgated by the Complainant to satisfy the "actual use" language of Idaho Code 23-908 (4) unequivocally states that the requirement of Idaho Code 23-908 (4) that a new license be placed into actual use by a licensee and remain used for six consecutive months is satisfied if the licensee makes actual sale of liquor by the drink <u>during</u> at least eight hours per day and no fewer that six days per week. Contrary to the emphasis placed on other phrases and words within the regulation by the parties, it would appear that applying the plain, obvious and literal meaning to the word "during" would satisfy any inquiry into whether IDAPA 11.05.01.010.03 is ambiguous or unambiguous.

The definition of "during," inter alia, is "throughout the duration of." The definition of "duration" is "the time during which something exists or lasts." Thus, it would appear a licensee would be required to make actual sales of liquor by the drink sometime while it is in operation for eight hours a day/no fewer than six days a week. Applying this interpretation to the undisputed facts, the evidence shows that while sales of liquor by the glass by the Respondent at Aubrey's are spotty at best, sales have nevertheless taken place. (underline in original, italics added).

Preliminary Order on Motions for Summary Judgment and Order on Complainant's Renewed Motion for Protective Order dated December 24, 2009 at 15-16 (hereinafter, "Preliminary Order").

APPELLANT'S BRIEF Page 6 of 30

The Hearing Officer also held that ABC was barred under the doctrine of quasi-estoppel, since "the Complainant is now taking inconsistent positions of its past practices regarding requirements of new liquor licensees." Preliminary Order at 18.

Fuchs also had moved for summary judgment on whether ABC's new policy was improper rulemaking and an arbitrary and unreasonable exercise of police power. The Hearing Officer held that, because his ruling on the interpretation of the rule was dispositive, the remaining issues "were moot." Preliminary Order at 19. n.6.

The Hearing Officer did not award attorney fees to Fuchs, as, based upon the law at the time, he had no authority to do so:

Both parties have sought attorney fees in this matter pursuant to Idaho Code §12-117 and other applicable statutes and rules. Under Idaho Code § 12-117 only the court and not an administrative officer or agency can award attorney fees to a prevailing party. See, Rammell v. Idaho State Department of Agriculture, 147 Idaho 415 (2009). As such, no attorney fees are awarded.

Preliminary Order at 19.4

#### b. ABC's Petition for Review by Agency Head.

ISP/ABC appealed the Hearing Officer's Decision to the Director of the Idaho State Police. On June 8, 2010, the Director issued his Final Order, declaring that Rule 10.03 was ambiguous, as Fuchs had argued from the beginning<sup>5</sup>, but announcing his own new

APPELLANT'S BRIEF Page 7 of 30

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In *Rammell*, this Court overruled previous decisions and held, as the Hearing Officer observed, that only Courts were authorized to award attorney fees under I.C. 12-117 On March 3, 2010, the Idaho Legislature amended I.C. 12-117 expressly to provide that administrative officers and agencies could award attorney fees. House Bill 421, SIXTIETH LEGISLATURE, SECOND REGULAR SESSION, 2010. Following this legislative action, this Court has held that parties may only seek attorney fees in "administrative proceedings" but not in "administrative judicial proceedings." *Smith v. Washington County*, 150 Idaho 388, 392 (2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>From the beginning, Fuchs has maintained that Rule 10.03 was unambiguous in how it had been interpreted without exception as requiring no particular number of sales over any period of time to satisfy the "actual sales" requirements. *See*, Appellant's Brief in Support of Petition for Judicial Review, pp. 18-19 (R at 32-33). Alternatively, Fuchs argued from the beginning that, if ambiguity were found, the rule became unenforceable. In either case, Fuchs would prevail. Rather, the Director found ambiguity but attempted to cure it, ignoring that such finding fully supported Fuchs' challenge to the administrative revocation throughout the proceedings.

## interpretation:

The Hearing Officer's Interpretation of Rule 10.03 is clearly incorrect. However, this does not automatically dictate that ABC's interpretation is correct. Examining the language of the rule, reasonable minds can reach different conclusions regarding its precise meaning. In other words, it is ambiguous. The rule can reasonably be read one (1) of three (3) ways. A licensee must:

- a. sell at least one (1) glass of liquor every hour for at least eight (8) hours, six (6) days or more a week. (This would require at least forty-eight (48) sales a week and is how ABC is apparently interpreting the rule); or
- b. sell at least one (1) glass of liquor sometime during every day that the establishment is open. The establishment must be open for at least eight (8) hours per day, six (6) days or more a week. (This would require at least (6) sales a week); or
- c. sell at least one (1) glass of liquor sometime during a period of time during which the establishment is open at least eight hours a day, at least six (6) days a week (this would require only (1) sale a week).

The proper interpretation of IDAPA 11.05.01.010.03 is that a new licensee must sell at least one (1) glass of liquor sometime during every day that the establishment is open. The establishment must be open for at least eight (8) hours per day, six (6) days a week.

Director's Final Order at 10-11.

Additionally, the Director overruled the Hearing Officer by holding that ISP/ABC was not barred under quasi-estoppel from taking inconsistent positions, stating incongruously that "there is no question that Fuchs violated Rule 10.03." Director's Final Order at 12.

And, the Director ruled that ABC did not engage in improper rulemaking, because "ABC's notifications to Fuchs (including the interpretation adopted by the Director and stated in this Final Decision) qualify as written statements from the agency to the licensee pertaining to how the agency is interpreting Rule 10.03." Director's Final Order at 15.

The Director held that ISP/ABC's actions were not arbitrary and unreasonable, because Rule 10.03 requires "actual sales," and "the only thing ambiguous about the rule was whether

APPELLANT'S BRIEF Page 8 of 30

those actual sales have to be hourly, daily or weekly." Id. at 16.

Despite such pronouncements, the Director did not order revocation or forfeiture of Fuchs' license, though, ostensibly, he had ruled against Fuchs on each issue:

The record shows that Fuchs violated IDAPA 11.05.01.010.03 by failing to make the necessary sales on numerous days and even several entire weeks during the relevant six (6) month period. However, given the confusion over the proper interpretation of the rule and its misapplication by both parties and the Hearing Officer, Fuchs will not be sanctioned for this violation, and the clarification of the proper interpretation of IDAPA 11.05.01.010.03 set forth in this Final Order shall have prospective effect only.

Id. at 18 (emphasis added).

The Director declined to award attorney fees to either party, stating that neither party had prevailed and that Fuchs had not acted without a reasonable basis in fact or law:

Under Idaho Code 12-117, an administrative agency shall award attorney fees to the prevailing party, but only when the losing party "acted without a reasonable basis in fact or law." In this case, the Director has reversed the Hearing Officer's Preliminary Order and found that Fuchs violated the applicable rule. Therefore, Fuchs is not the prevailing party and is not eligible for attorney fees under Section 12-117. However, neither is ABC. While the Director has concluded that Fuchs violated IDAPA 11.05.01.010.03, it cannot be said that he acted without a reasonable basis in fact or law.

The rule at issue in this case is ambiguous. Prior ISP administrators, the Hearing Officer, and both parties misinterpreted what the rule requires. Although Fuchs was properly put on advanced notice that actual sales were necessary, there was still considerable confusion over the exact details of those sales.

Id. at 17 (emphasis added).

On July 1, 2010, Fuchs filed a Notice of Appeal/Petition for Judicial Review with the District Court seeking costs and attorney fees (R. at 1-7).

# II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

A. Whether Appellant Fuchs' "substantial rights," contemplated by I.C. 67-5279 (4), were prejudiced. The District Court erred in applying an overbroad, discretionary standard to the

APPELLANT'S BRIEF Page 9 of 30

Director on appeal to him, in finding the Director's discretion excused the denial of Appellant Fuchs' "substantial rights" to costs and attorney's fees, due process of law, and freedom from the unreasonable exercise of police power.

- B. Whether Appellant Fuchs was a "prevailing party," entitling him to seek costs and attorney fees pursuant to I.C. 12-117.
- C. Whether Respondent ISP actions were without a reasonable basis in fact or law, because Respondent ISP's attempt to revoke Appellant Fuchs's license, without a clear standard as to how many "actual sales" were required, was:
  - an unreasonable exercise of police power;
  - arbitrary, capricious, and not based upon adequate determining principles;
  - based upon unlawful procedure, and;
  - in violation of the Idaho Constitution.

# III ARGUMENT

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

An agency's action may be set aside, if the agency's findings, conclusions or decisions:

(a) violate constitutional or statutory provisions; (b) exceed the agency's statutory authority; (c) are made upon unlawful procedure; (d) are not supported by substantial evidence on the record as a whole; or, (e) are arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion. I.C. 67-5279 (3). In addition, Idaho courts will affirm agency action, unless a substantial right of the appellant has been prejudiced. I.C. 67-5279(4).

This Court freely and *de novo* reviews a district court's decision regarding attorney fees under I.C. 12-117. *Gardiner v. Boundary County Bd. of Com'rs*, 148 Idaho 764, 769 (2010). *Reardon and Magic Valley Sand & Gravel, Inc., v. City of Burley*, 140 Idaho 115, 118 (2004).

APPELLANT'S BRIEF Page 10 of 30

# B. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT RULED THAT FUCHS HAD NO "SUBSTANTIAL RIGHTS" TO ATTORNEY FEES.

Fuchs had "substantial rights" denied, when the Director held that Fuchs was not a "prevailing party" and declined to award costs and attorney fees to him. ISP/ABC had acted without a reasonable basis in fact or law. This Court has held that, under I.C. 12-117, an award of attorney fees is mandatory to a prevailing party and when the non-moving party acted without a reasonable basis in fact or law. Secondly, Fuchs' "substantial rights" prejudiced include the fundamental due process right to an impartial decision-maker in reviewing his request for fees and costs. The Director, the head of the agency, was not impartial. The District Court compounded this due process deprivation, when it deferred to the "substantial rights" have been prejudiced. This Court should reverse the District Court's Decision and Order on Appeal affirming the Director's Final Order.

This Court has held that a party must demonstrate that two requirements are met, before an agency decision will be overturned. *Dry Creek Partners, LLC v. Ada County Com'rs, ex rel.*State, 148 Idaho 11, 16 (2009). Initially, the party must show that the agency's decision violates I.C. 67-5279 (3). *Id.* This statute provides that the court shall affirm an agency decision, unless the court finds that the agency's finding, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure:
- (d) not supported by substantial evidence on the record as a whole; or
- (e) arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion.

As the District Court noted, Fuchs "exhaustively" argued for costs and fees, submitting evidence in support of his argument that ISP/ABC:

• violated constitutional and statutory provisions;

APPELLANT'S BRIEF Page 11 of 30

- acted in excess of its statutory authority;
- based its decision upon unlawful procedure;
- acted in a manner not based upon substantial evidence;
- and/or was arbitrary, capricious and an abuse of discretion. (R. at 124).

Fuchs reasserts each and every such basis, upon which ISP/ABC violated I.C. 67-5279 (3).6

The District Court avoided ruling on the first step in the analysis, that ISP violated I.C. 67-5279 (3). Instead, the District Court held that the second step in the analysis was not satisfied, holding that Fuchs had no "substantial rights" prejudiced, as required by I.C. § 67-5279 (4). The District Court held:

Fuchs exhaustively analyzes and argues I.C. 67-5279 (3), the five findings upon which a reviewing court can set aside an agency action. This Court determines that it need not make findings or conclusions on the five criteria of I.C. 67-5279 (3); this determination is based upon I.C. 67-5279 (4), which provides that an agency action shall be affirmed unless the substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced. See Lane Ranch Partnership v City of Sun Valley, 145 Idaho 87, 175 P. 2d 776 (2007). Fuchs has failed to persuade this Court that costs and attorney fees are a substantial right contemplated by the statute. Fuchs, was not, in fact, sanctioned by the Director in his Final Order, and no substantial right of his has been denied.

Decision on Appeal at 3, R at 124.8

APPELLANT'S BRIEF Page 12 of 30

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