Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-8-2012

Fuchs v. Idaho State Police Supplemental Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38714

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

V. ANALYSIS

A. Shelton's Claim for Legal Malpractice Abated upon Her Death

[3] The abatement rule holds that in the absence of a legislative enactment addressing the survivability of a claim, the common law rules govern. See I.C. § 73–116 ("The common law of England, so far as it is not repugnant to, or inconsistent with, the constitution or laws of the United States, in all cases not provided for in these compiled laws, is the rule of decision in all courts of this state."); see also Evans v. Twin Falls Cnty., 118 Idaho 210, 215, 796 P.2d 87, 92 (1990). Under the common law, claims arising out of contracts generally survive the death of the claimant, while those sounding in pure tort abate. See Helgeson v. Powell, 54 Idaho 667, 674-79, 34 P.2d 957, 960-61 (1934); Kloepfer v. Forch, 32 Idaho 415, 417-18, 184 P. 477, 477 (1919).

The Idaho Legislature addressed whether negligence claims abate in amending I.C. § 5–327(2) to provide that negligence claims, including legal malpractice claims, do not abate on the death of the injured person. Because the Idaho Legislature failed to provide express language of retroactivity, I.C. § 5–327(2) is inapplicable to the present action, which arose prior to the statute's effective date. FNI See I.C. § 73–101 (asserting that "[n]o part of these

compiled laws is retroactive, unless expressly so declared"); see also Henderson v. Smith, 128 Idaho 444, 448, 915 P.2d 6, 10 (1996). Thus, this Court's ruling is dependent on whether Patricia Shelton's legal malpractice claim sounds in pure tort or arises out of contract under the common law. *1251 See I.C. § 73–116; Helgeson, 54 Idaho at 674–79, 34 P.2d at 960–61; Kloepfer, 32 Idaho at 417–18, 184 P. at 477.

FN1. I.C. § 5-327(2) was amended effective July 1, 2010.

This Court previously held that legal malpractice actions sound in tort in the context of attorney's fees claims under I.C. § 12-120(3). See Rice v. Litster, 132 Idaho 897, 980 P.2d 561 (1999); see also Fuller v. Wolters, 119 Idaho 415, 807 P.2d 633 (1991). In restricting attorney's fees claims to commercial transactions under I.C. § 12-120(3), this Court held "that an action for legal malpractice is a tort action ... even though the underlying transaction which resulted in the malpractice was a 'commercial transaction....' " See Rice, 132 Idaho at 901, 980 P.2d at 565 (quoting Fuller, 119 Idaho at 425, 807 P.2d at 643). Although Rice and Fuller have since been overruled regarding their prohibition of I.C. § 12-120(3) attorney's fees claims in the context of legal malpractice actions, this Court recognized that they were not overruled on the characterization of legal malpractice actions as sounding in tort. See City of McCall v. Buxton, 146 ldaho 656, 664-65, 201 P.3d 629, 637-38 (2009) (holding that commercial transactions under § 12-120(3) are not limited to contract actions and may include legal malpractice tort actions even in the absence of an attorney-client contract); see also Soignier v. Fletcher, 151 Idaho 322, 256 P.3d 730 (2011) (holding that legal malpractice actions sound in tort, but 1.C. § 12-120(3) only requires that there be a commercial transaction, which may be satisfied with the establishment of an attorney-client relationship).

[4][5][6][7][8][9][10] As this Court previously recognized, "[1]egal malpractice actions are an am-

© 2012 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.

Page 5

272 P.3d 1247 152 Idaho 616, 272 P.3d 1247

(Cite as: 152 Idaho 616, 272 P.3d 1247)

algam of tort and contract theories." See Johnson v. Jones, 103 Idaho 702, 706, 652 P.2d 650, 654 (1982). The tort basis of legal malpractice actions flows from the elements of legal malpractice: "(a) the existence of an attorney-client relationship; (b) the existence of a duty on the part of the lawyer; (c) failure to perform the duty; and (d) the negligence of the lawyer must have been a proximate cause of the damage to the client..." Id. (quoting Sherry v. Diercks, 29 Wash.App. 433, 437, 628 P.2d 1336, 1338 (1981)), "The scope of an attorney's contractual duty to a client is defined by the purposes for which the attorney is retained." Johnson, 103 Idaho at 704, 652 P.2d at 652; Fuller, 119 Idaho at 425, 807 P.2d at 643 (holding that the tort of legal malpractice is also a breach of the attorney-client relationship). Breach of an attorney's duty in negligence is a tort. See Harrigfeld v. Hancock, 140 Idaho 134, 136, 90 P.3d 884, 886 (2004); Johnson, 103 Idaho at 704, 706-07, 652 P.2d at 652, 654-55. The contract basis of legal malpractice actions is the failure to perform obligations directly specified in the written contract. See Johnson, 103 Idaho at 704, 706–07, 652 P.2d at 652, 654–55 (holding that a breach of contract claim would arise if the attorney did not do what he promised to do in the contract, e.g., failing to draw up a contract of sale). Thus, under the abatement rule, breach of duty is an action in tort, not contract; that is, unless an attorney foolhardily contracts with his client guaranteeing a specific outcome in the litigation or provides for a higher standard of care in the contract, he is held to the standard of care expected of an attorney. Breach of that duty is a tort.

[11][12][13] As further elaborated by Justice Jim Jones in his special concurrence, the contours of the duties owed by an attorney to his or her client are defined by the Idaho Rules of Professional Conduct. If an attorney and client want to provide for a higher standard of care, they may do so by express language in the contract. Here, the standard of care in the contract is essentially the same as in any attorney-client relationship. Because this claim sounds in tort, it abated upon Patricia Shelton's

death.

Owens also asserts that the personal nature of the attorney-client relationship suggests that legal malpractice claims are not assignable and, therefore, abate under *MacLeod v. Stelle*, 43 Idaho 64, 75, 249 P. 254, 257 (1926). This Court need not specifically address this issue because Shelton's legal malpractice claim abated.

B. Patricia Shelton's Breach of Contract Claim Fails to State a Claim upon Which Relief Can Be Granted

[14] Owens relies on Trimming v. Howard, 52 Idaho 412, 16 P.2d 661 (1932), and *1252 Hayward v. Valley Vista Care Corp., 136 Idaho 342, 33 P.3d 816 (2001), in asserting that the district court erred in holding that Patricia Shelton may bring her legal malpractice and breach of contract claims in the same cause of action. Bishop asserts that Hayward is inapplicable because it relates to medical malpractice claims and was based on a statute that strictly required all actions related to medical care to be pursued in the context of the local standard of care. See Hayward, 136 Idaho at 349–51, 33 P.3d at 823–25.

Trimming and Hayward were actions where the plaintiffs tried to assert contract claims in medical malpractice suits in order to avoid the statute of limitations defense applicable to tort claims. Id.; Trimming, 52 Idaho at 415-17, 16 P.2d at 662-63. Specifically, this Court rejected such claims, asserting that they pertain to "the provision of or failure to provide health care" under 1.C. § 6-1012. Hayward, 136 Idaho at 349-50, 33 P.3d at 823-24 (quoting I.C. § 6-1012). This Court affirmed the claims as malpractice tort actions, "regardless of the label assigned to them." Id. at 350, 33 P.3d at 824. Thus, Owens contends that where legal malpractice actions based on breach of duty are asserted, not based on any obligations or undertakings specifically provided in a contract, a claim in tort remains the sole cause of action. See Trimming, 52 1daho at 415-17, 16 P.2d at 662-63; Hayward, 136 Idaho at 349–50, 33 P.3d at 823–24.

272 P.3d 1247 152 Idaho 616, 272 P.3d 1247

(Cite as: 152 Idaho 616, 272 P.3d 1247)

Although the medical malpractice cases on which Owens relies are governed by a specific statute, the fact that a proponent labels his or her action as sounding in contract as well as malpractice does not make the underlying action contract. The "theory" of relief sought is not different. A holding to the contrary would create a per se breach of contract action in every legal malpractice action. Legal malpractice has traditionally been treated as the proper claim where an attorney breaches his or her duty, which arises from the attorney-client relation-

As noted in the previous section, because the contingent fee agreement in this matter contained no express language providing for a higher standard of care, the duty owed by Owens is not defined by the contingent fee agreement. The language in the contingent fee agreement that "[a]ttorneys shall represent Client in said matter and do all things necessary, appropriate, or advisable, in regard thereto" is not materially different from the standard applied in the legal malpractice claim. Thus, this action is really a legal malpractice claim disguised as a contract claim. A person cannot change a tort action into a contract action simply by labeling it as such. *Hayward*, 136 Idaho at 350, 33 P.3d at 824.

As previously discussed, professional malpractice actions traditionally have been characterized as tort actions in the context of the statute of limitations. To hold that this claim is clearly a separate contract cause of action would render the two year statute of limitations applying to legal malpractice actions moot. See Lapham v. Stewart, 137 Idaho 582, 585–87, 51 P.3d 396, 399–401 (2002). It would also call into question matters such as the standard of care regarding legal malpractice actions, which is to comply with the local standard of care by an attorney, as well as the application of the economic loss rule to legal malpractice claims.

Therefore, this Court holds that Bishop's breach of contract claim, which asserts the same claim as the legal malpractice theory, which has

traditionally been treated as the proper claim, fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

C. The Issue Whether Shelton's Claim for Legal Malpractice Is Barred by the Economic Loss Rule Does Not Need to be Addressed Because Shelton's Claim for Legal Malpractice Abated

In the Notice of Appeal, Owens argues that the district court erred in ruling that Shelton's claim for legal malpractice is not barred by the economic loss rule. This issue does not need to be addressed because Shelton's claim for legal malpractice abated upon her death.

D. The Sub stitution of L ois B ishop as Personal Representative for Patricia Shelton Was Improper Because Shelton's Claim Extinguished as per I.R.C.P. 25(a)(1)

The basis of Owens's contention that the district court erred in allowing the substitution*1253 of Lois Bishop is that substitution of the parties under I.R.C.P. 25(a)(1) is only applicable "[i]f a party dies and the claim is not thereby extinguished...." Since the legal malpractice claim abated and the contract claim failed to state an independent action, the district court erred in allowing the substitution of Bishop.

E. Bishop Is Not Entitled to Attorney's Fees Under I.C. § 12–120(3) and I.C. § 12–121

Idaho Code section 12–120(3) and Idaho Code section 12–121 apply to prevailing parties in a civil action. Bishop is not the prevailing party in this action. Therefore, this Court denies Bishop's attorney's fees claims under I.C. § 12–120(3) and I.C. § 12–121.

VI. CONCLUSION

Patricia Shelton's legal malpractice claim abated upon her death, and her breach of contract claim fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. Therefore, the Motion to Substitute as Plaintiff was improperly granted under I.R.C.P. 25(a)(1). Bishop is not entitled to attorney's fees because she is not the prevailing party.

272 P.3d 1247 152 Idaho 616, 272 P.3d 1247

(Cite as: 152 Idaho 616, 272 P.3d 1247)

the client, just as any other contractual obligation.

The judgment of the district court is reversed. Appellants did not request attorney fees. Costs are awarded to the Appellants.

Chief Justice BURDICK and Justice EISMANN concur.

J. JONES, J., specially concurring.

I concur in the Court's opinion but write to make some additional observations regarding the matters at issue.

Characterizing a breach of duty action against an attorney has never been easy because, by definition, an attorney-client relationship arises out of some form of contract, but a lawyer's duty of care, which by implication becomes a part of that contract, is not necessarily spelled out in the contract terms agreed upon by the parties. A lawyer's duty to a client is established by professional obligations developed by the Idaho State Bar and this Court. The contours of an Idaho lawyer's duty of care are generally spelled out in the Idaho Rules of Professional Conduct (I.R.P.C.). "An attorney's duty arises out of the contract between the attorney and his or her client." Harrigfeld v. Hancock, 140 Idaho 134, 137, 90 P.3d 884, 887 (2004). The things an attorney is obligated to do for a client depend on the type of matter or proceeding that the attorney undertakes for the client. The attorney is obligated to observe the duty of care attendant to such matter or proceeding. An attorney may not make a contract with the client to limit compliance with his duty of care, except as authorized by the I.R.P.C., such as obtaining informed consent to reveal confidential client information (I.R.P.C. 1.6(a)) or obtaining informed consent to represent clients with conflicting interests (I.R.P.C. 1.7(b)(4)).